SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA Tallahassee, Florida

Appeal No: 95,686

COASTAL DEVELOPMENT OF NORTH FLORIDA, INC., AND MEADOWS INCORPORATED,

> Petitioners, v.

CITY OF JACKSONVILLE BEACH, FLORIDA,

Respondent.

On Appeal from the First District Court of Appeal

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BARTLETT & HEEKIN, P.A. T. Geoffrey Heekin Fla. Bar No.: 328448 S. Hunter Malin Fla. Bar No.: 0088020 P.O. Box 477 Jacksonville, FL 32201 904/355-7000 904/355-0266 (facsimile) Attorneys for Petitioners

Jurisdiction

On March 30, 1999, the First District Court of Appeal (the "First District"), in reversing the Circuit Court's decision in favor of Petitioners, certified the following issue to this Court as being one of great public importance:

ARE DECISIONS REGARDING SMALL-SCALE DEVELOPMENT AMENDMENTS PURSUANT TO SECTION 163.3187(1)(c), FLORIDA STATUTES, LEGISLATIVE IN NATURE AND, THEREFORE, SUBJECT TO THE FAIRLY DEBATABLE STANDARD OF REVIEW; OR QUASI-JUDICIAL, AND SUBJECT TO STRICT SCRUTINY?

As such, this Court has discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(4), Florida Constitution, and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.¹

Questions Presented

- B. IS A LOCAL GOVERNMENT DECISION CONCERNING A SMALL-SCALE AMENDMENT A QUASI-JUDICIAL ACTION WHICH IS SUBJECT TO JUDICIAL "STRICT SCRUTINY", PURSUANT TO FLORIDA CASE LAW AND SECTION 163.3187(1)(c), FLORIDA STATUTES?
- C. WAS RESPONDENT'S DENIAL OF PETITIONERS' APPLICATION AND FAILURE TO APPROVE THE ORDINANCE ENACTING THE APPLICATION FOR A SMALL-SCALE AMENDMENT BASED ON COMPETENT SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE?

¹ Petitioners believe the standard of review of a small-scale amendment to the Comprehensive Plan to be an issue of great public There are three major types of land use decisions importance. which can be made. This Court has already made a decision on two of these types of decisions; to wit: rezonings (Snyder) and largescale amendments (Yusem). The third type of decision, a smallscale amendment, is the subject of this appeal. Notably, the Fifth District, in Fleeman v. City of St. Augustine Beach, 728 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), also certified this issue to be one of importance. Fleeman, despite requesting great public certification, did not file a Notice Of Appeal with this Court.

Petitioners additionally seek discretionary review under Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, as the First District's Order directly conflicts with the Third District's Order in <u>Debes v. City of Key West</u>, 690 So. 2d 700 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997) In <u>Debes</u>, the Third District held that the proper standard of review for the denial of a small-scale amendment is the competent, substantial evidence standard set forth in <u>Snyder</u>. <u>Id.</u> at 701.

Further, when this Court accepts a case for consideration pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(4), Florida Constitution, and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, review is not limited to the question certified by the District Court of Appeal. <u>See Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So. 2d 1126 (Fla. 1983); <u>Bell v. State</u>, 394 So. 2d 979 (Fla. 1981). As such, Petitioners are requesting that this Court review the other critical issues which are presented herein, and which were at issue in the appeal to the First District.

- C. WAS RESPONDENT'S DENIAL OF PETITIONERS' APPLICATION AND FAILURE TO APPROVE THE ORDINANCE ENACTING THE APPLICATION FOR THE SMALL-SCALE AMENDMENT "FAIRLY DEBATABLE"?
- DID THE FIRST DISTRICT ERR IN REVERSING THE CIRCUIT COURT D. BECAUSE UNDER FLORIDA RULE OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE 9.030(b)(2)(B), ITS REVIEW WAS LIMITED TO DETERMINING WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT AFFORDED PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS AND WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT FAILED TO FOLLOW A CLEARLY LAW WHICH ESTABLISHED PRINCIPLE OF RESULTS IN Α MISCARRIAGE OF JUSTICE?

Statement of the Case and Facts

Petitioners filed an application (the "Application") for a small-scale amendment to the 2010 Comprehensive Plan for the City (the "Comprehensive Plan") of Jacksonville Beach with the Respondent for Petitioners' property located on the southeast corner of the intersection of South Third Street (also known as A1A) and St. Augustine Boulevard. (P. Vol. I, Tab A). The subject site is currently designated Residential, single family: RS-1, and Petitioners were seeking a change to Commercial Professional Office Zoning for ± 1.7 acres of Petitioners' ± 2.8 acre parcel. The Petitioners would like to build professional offices on the subject site. Critically, the site is currently undeveloped and not in Moreover, there is significant dense, commercial zoning which use. in effect surrounds the subject site including: land that is zoned and used as a Commercial Professional Office which is located across Third Street from Petitioner's Property on the west side of South Third Street directly across the street from the subject site and extending south towards Butler Boulevard; and land to the

immediate north and northwest of the site on the same side of Third Street as the subject site that is used for higher intensity commercial uses than Petitioners propose, including two gas stations and a shopping center. The land to the northeast of the subject site is multi-family residential. The only land that is residential which is located adjacent to the subject site is that land to the east of the subject site on Madrid Street, a significant portion of which is owned by Petitioners, and that land to the south that is located on the east side of Third Street.

The City of Jacksonville Beach, Land Development Code (the "Code") provides that an applicant must prove that at least one of the six enumerated factors exists before an application for an amendment to the Comprehensive Plan is granted. <u>See</u> Code Sec. 34-177; (P. Vol. I, Tab I). In the Application and at the hearing conducted below, the Petitioners established five of the six factors enumerated in the Code including that: (1) there were changed projections in the Comprehensive Plan; (2) there were changed assumptions in the Comprehensive Plan; (3) there were new issues that had arisen since adoption of the Comprehensive Plan; (4) there was a need for additional detail or comprehensiveness in the Comprehensive Plan; and (5) there were updates that needed to be made to the data used for the Comprehensive Plan.² Although the Petitioners' Application established five of the six factors set

² The only element not established, data errors, was not applicable to the Application.

forth in the Code (and was thus <u>more than sufficient</u> to support a small-scale amendment to the Comprehensive Plan) the Planning and Development Department's Staff Report (the "Staff Report") recommended denial of the Application. (P. Vol. I, Tab K).

Petitioners' Application was heard by the Planning Commission for the City of Jacksonville Beach. (P. Vol. II, Tab P). At this hearing, Petitioners presented expert testimony and exhibits to establish five of the six factors set forth in the Code sufficient for granting the Application. The only opposition to the Application, other than the Staff Report recommendation, was that presented by non-expert members of the public who (comprised mostly of adjoining residential land owners) voiced their general opposition to any development in the area and their specific opposition to the Application. (P. Vol. II, Tab P). Despite this lack of expert testimony opposing the Application and despite the lack of any credible opposition, the Planning Commission voted to deny the Application in a three to two vote. (P. Vol. II, Tab P, pp.66-67).

Petitioners properly and timely objected to this denial by the Planning Commission, prompting a hearing before the Respondent's City Council. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q). At the hearing, Petitioners again presented expert testimony along with certain exhibits in support of their Application. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q).

David Van Horn, a Certified Planner who had participated in the preparation of the Respondent's Comprehensive Plan, testified

on behalf of the Petitioners. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q, pp.15-16). Mr. Van Horn testified without rebuttal or contradiction that the Code only requires that one of the six factors be established in order to obtain approval of a request for a small-scale amendment to the Comprehensive Plan; and that Petitioners established five of the six factors. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q, pp.15-29). Specifically, Mr. Van Horn³ testified that: (1) there were changed projections in the Comprehensive Plan as a result of the fact that there had been the original projections, including population changes in increases, since the date that the original Comprehensive Plan was prepared in 1985; (2) since the current growth in the area was not anticipated at the time the Comprehensive Plan was adopted, there were changed assumptions in the original Comprehensive Plan; (3) there were new issues that had arisen after the adoption of the Comprehensive Plan, including the elimination of 180,000 square feet of available and planned commercial professional office space in a development of regional impact ("DRI") located in the City; (4) there was a need for additional detail or comprehensiveness in the Comprehensive Plan due to changes in the population estimates and the elimination of the office space in the DRI; and (5) there were updates that needed to be made to the data used for the

 $^{^3\,}$ Mr. Van Horn is a member of the American Institute of Certified Planners and holds a master's degree in planning. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q, p.15).

original Comprehensive Plan as to population increases and the increased need for office space. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q, pp.15-29).

Further, Mr. Van Horn testified that Petitioners' proposed development should be considered "infill", since it would serve as a transition between the higher and equally intensive commercial uses to the north and west, on the one hand, and the residential uses to the east and south, on the other hand. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q, p.19). Mr. Van Horn demonstrated that Petitioners' Application should be granted because Petitioners more than established five of the six factors set forth in the Code.

Petitioners also presented expert testimony from a traffic engineer, Jim Robinson.⁴ Mr. Robinson testified that there would be no negative impact on traffic congestion in the area when compared to the existing use; that the level of service standards embodied in the Comprehensive Plan will not be violated for South Third Street for the proposed development; and that the proposed amendment will actually result in improved traffic safety when compared to the existing permitted use (due to the fewer number of curb cuts that will be needed for Petitioners' proposed development versus the number that would be needed to develop this property as

⁴ Mr. Robinson is a registered professional engineer in four states, including Florida. Additionally, Mr. Robinson is a member of the Expert Witness Council of the Institute of Transportation Engineers, the national organization that focuses on traffic and transportation matters, and is a recent past president of the Florida Section of the American Society of Civil Engineers. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q, p.31).

residential). (P. Vol. II, Tab Q, pp.30-39). Therefore, Petitioners established that there would be no negative impact caused by the traffic generated by the proposed development.

Petitioners also presented the expert testimony of Duncan Ennis,⁵ a licensed real estate appraiser, who testified that there would be no depreciation in the value of the surrounding residences if Petitioners' Application was approved. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q, pp.39-44). In fact, Mr. Ennis testified that, based upon his study of areas where similar professional offices had been built, there would be an appreciation in the value of the surrounding residences if Petitioners' Application was approved. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q, Thus, the proposed development would not negatively pp.42-44). impact the value of the surrounding property. Mr. Ennis further testified that single family development along South Third Street had long since become undesirable, as evidenced by the fact that no residential homes facing the heavily trafficked Third Street have been constructed in the City of Jacksonville Beach in over thirtyseven (37) years. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q, p.42). Therefore, the only competent expert testimony established that commercial professional office use would be a proper use for this site and would have no negative impact on the value of the surrounding properties.

⁵ Mr. Ennis is a Member of the Appraisal Institute (MAI) and a Residential member of the Appraisal Institute (RM). Mr. Ennis has actively appraised residential, commercial, industrial and special purpose properties in Jacksonville and Jacksonville Beach for 23 years. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q, pp.39-40).

Finally, Petitioners produced Garry Abbey, a licensed civil engineer, who testified concerning his study of the feasibility of developing residential lots that backed onto Third Street and had access onto Madrid Street. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q, pp.42-47). This study was commissioned by Petitioners as a result of suggestions by Respondent that homes could be constructed with their back yards abutting Third Street and that Petitioners' property could thus be developed as residential. Apparently, the Respondent has all but conceded that the development of these lots as residential homes facing Third Street is not practical. In order to implement this suggestion, Petitioners would have had to use one of their lots for an access road from Madrid and would have had to have another access road running parallel to Madrid Street due to the odd shape of the parcel. Mr. Abbey testified that, after subtracting that portion of land required for the new road that these proposed residential lots would front onto, such a proposed development would leave the remaining portions of the lots too small and undesirable for use as residential lots. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q, . (42-47). He also testified that the Fire Marshall raised a concern that it would be difficult to obtain emergency access or access with any large trucks (for garbage, utilities, etc.) to these proposed new lots from the proposed access road. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q, p.45). Therefore, the only competent testimony, expert or otherwise, established that such a residential development, as was suggested by Respondent, was not feasible.

A number of the many members of the lay public present also spoke. The various speakers raised issues such as the availability of other commercial space, their speculation that increased traffic congestion may be caused by Petitioners' development, their speculated and unsubstantiated fear of the reduction of their personal property values, their opinions that the Comprehensive Plan should not be modified, and their fear of the precedent that the development would set for the remaining undeveloped residential land along Third Street. (P. Vol. II, Tab O, pp.42-98). All of the speakers recommended disapproval of the Application. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q, pp.42-98). However, none of these speakers qualified as experts, and none presented any factual basis for their statements. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q, pp.42-98). Absolutely no studies or expert testimony was introduced in opposition to Petitioners' evidence. Therefore, the only testimony that was presented in opposition to Petitioners' application was merely opinion testimony of the many members of the public who were present at the hearing and who were testifying based on speculation and emotion without any factual support or basis. In sum, no expert testimony or evidence was presented by the Respondent.

Despite the lack of expert testimony or other competent substantial evidence upon which to deny the Application, Respondent voted to deny Petitioners' Application. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q, pp.101-02). Petitioners properly and timely objected to this decision. (P. Vol. II, Tab Q, pp.101-102). Petitioners then

appealed this decision to the Fourth Judicial Circuit Court, in and for Duval County, Florida (the "Circuit Court"). (P. Vol. I, Tab E). The Circuit Court, through a Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Pursuant To Rule 9.100(f), Florida Rules Of Appellate Procedure Or, In The Alternative, Action For Declaratory And Injunctive Relief, held on June 30, 1998, that: (1) the decision by a local government concerning small-scale amendments is quasi-judicial in nature, and thus, the correct standard of judicial review is whether there is competent substantial evidence to support the local government's decision; (2) since the standard of review is competent substantial evidence, review by certiorari is proper; (3) there was no evidence, much less competent substantial evidence, to support the City's decision to deny Petitioners' Application for the smallscale amendment; and (4) even if decisions by a local government concerning small-scale amendments are legislative and thus entitled to a fairly debatable standard of review by declaratory and/or injunctive relief, the City failed to show that its decision was fairly debatable. (P. Vol. I, Tab J). As such, the Circuit Court granted Petitioners' Petition for Writ of Certiorari, guashed Respondent's decision to deny Petitioners' Application for a smallscale amendment to the Comprehensive Plan, and ordered Respondent to grant Petitioners' Application for a small-scale amendment to the Comprehensive Plan. (P. Vol. I, Tab J).

Respondent, on July 27, 1998, filed a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari with the First District. Jurisdiction was based on

Article V, Section 4(b)(3), Florida Constitution, and Rule 9.030(b)(2)(B), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. On March 30, 1999, the First District reversed the Order of the Circuit Court, in part, by holding: (1) a decision by a local government concerning small-scale amendments is legislative in nature, and thus, the correct standard of judicial review is whether the local government's decision is fairly debatable; and (2) since the standard of judicial review is whether the correct local government's decision is fairly debatable, review by certiorari is improper and the correct method of review is by declaratory action and/or injunctive review. (P. Vol. I, Tab L). As a result of this holding, the First District remanded the case back to the Circuit Court to determine whether Respondent's denial of the Application was fairly debatable. (P. Vol. I, Tab L). Finally, the First District certified the following issue as one of great public importance to this Court:

> ARE DECISIONS REGARDING SMALL-SCALE DEVELOPMENT AMENDMENTS PURSUANT TO SECTION 163.3187(1)(c), FLORIDA STATUTES, LEGISLATIVE IN NATURE AND, THEREFORE, SUBJECT TO THE FAIRLY DEBATABLE STANDARD OF REVIEW; OR QUASI-JUDICIAL, AND SUBJECT TO STRICT SCRUTINY?

(P. Vol. I, Tab L, p.8).

Since the Circuit Court had already determined that Respondent's denial of the Application was not fairly debatable, given the lack of any competent, substantial evidence to support Respondent's decision, Respondent filed a Motion for Rehearing on

April 9, 1999, and Petitioners filed a Motion for Rehearing on April 13, 1999. (P. Vol. I, Tab M). These motions were denied by the First District on May 6, 1999. (P. Vol. I, Tab N).

On May 26, 1999, Petitioners timely invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court by serving Respondent with Petitioners' Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction and filing the same with the First District on May 27, 1999. (P. Vol. I, Tab O). Petitioners respectfully request that this Court reverse the decision of the First District and reinstate the Circuit Court's Order.

Summary of Argument

The issue in this case, the proper standard for judicial review of a local government's decision of an application for a small-scale amendment to a comprehensive plan, was not resolved by this Court in <u>Martin County v. Yusem</u>, 690 So. 2d 1288, 1293 n.6 (Fla. 1997). This Court, in <u>Yusem</u>, held that large-scale amendments to a comprehensive plan, because of the integrated review process mandated by the Legislature, are legislative in nature and thus are subject to a fairly debatable standard of review. Prior to <u>Yusem</u>, this Court held in <u>Board of County</u> <u>Comm'rs v. Snyder</u>, 627 So. 2d 469 (Fla. 1993), that rezoning decisions, which are considered only at the local level and are at

risk of being based on neighborhoodism and a popularity poll, are quasi-judicial and thus subject to judicial review to determine if competent, substantial evidence supported the local government's decision. Because decisions on small-scale amendments (in addition to decisions on rezonings and large-scale amendments) are a major part of land use planning, it is submitted that this Court should accept jurisdiction and resolve this issue.

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