IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Coastal Development of North Florida, Inc. and Meadows Incorporated,

Petitioners,

v.

Case No. 95,686

The City of Jacksonville Beach, Florida,

Respondent

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT, THE CITY OF JACKSONVILLE BEACH, FLORIDA

/

Stephen Stratford Florida Bar No. 078791 1301 Riverplace Boulevard Suite 1638 Jacksonville, Florida 32207 (904) 398-0233 (904) 399-3508 (facsimile) William S. Graessle Florida Bar No. 498898 Winegeart, Graessle & MacKenzie , P.A. 219 Newnan Street, 4th Floor Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 353-6333 (904) 353-2080 facsimile

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court's decision in <u>Martin County v. Yusem</u>, 690 So.2d 1288 (Fla. 1997), unequivocally holds that a local government's decision whether to amend its Comprehensive Plan is a legislative decision to be judicially reviewed under a test of reasonableness and that certiorari is not an available remedy. Although this Court did not address the amendments to Chapter 163 governing small-scale plan amendments as those amendments were not at issue in that case, this Court's rationale demonstrates that the certified question should be answered in the affirmative, and the district court's decision approved.

The Developers' theory here that small-scale Plan Amendments should be treated "like rezoning" cases, is simply the "functional analysis" which was unequivocally rejected by this Court in <u>Yusem</u>.

The Petitioners' claim that there was no evidence to support the City's denial is belied by this record. The Planning Commission staff's analysis of these Developers' request and the data relied upon coupled with the Plan's goals and policies conclusively demonstrates that the City's action had a solid factual basis, was clearly reasonable and should have been approved by the circuit court below.

The Petitioners' further claim that the district court exceeded its certiorari jurisdiction is without merit; the district court property recognized that the trial court failed to apply the correct law.

б

Accordingly, this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative and approve the district court's decision.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CERTIFIED QUESTION SHOULD BE ANSWERED IN THE AFFIRMATIVE

The issue presented on this appeal by the question certified by the first district is extremely narrow:

Are decisions regarding small-scale development amendments pursuant to section 163.3187(1)(c), Florida Statutes, legislative in nature and, therefore, subject to the fairly debatable standard of review; or quasi-judicial, and subject to strict scrutiny?

<u>City of Jacksonville Beach v. Coastal Development of North</u> <u>Florida, Inc.</u>, 790 So.2d 792, 795 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999).

The answer to this question turns on whether this Court's holding in <u>Martin County v. Yusem</u>, 690 So. 2d 1288 (Fla. 1997), applies in the context of a "small scale" amendment to the City's Comprehensive Plan, an option available to local governments pursuant to the provisions of §163.3187(1)(C), Florida Statutes.

The focus and intent of Chapter 163, the judicial treatment of current land use issues, particularly this Court's decisions in both <u>Snyder</u> and <u>Yusem</u> and the proceedings below must be addressed to clarify the context for the question certified by the first district.

The provisions of Chapter 163 establishing a local government's obligation to adopt and develop a comprehensive land use plan was animated by Florida's rapid growth and development and the perceived inability of local governments to consistently and uniformly adopt and apply standards to manage and control that growth, as recognized by this Court

in <u>Snyder</u>, 627 So. 2d at 473.

In <u>City of Jacksonville Beach v. Grubbs</u>, 461 So. 2d 160 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), <u>review denied</u>, 469 So. 2d 749 (Fla. 1985), the first district held that a comprehensive plan adopted pursuant to the dictates of Chapter 163 is intended "as a general guideline for community growth for a 20- or 25-year period," and establishes a long-range maximum limit on possible intensities of land use. <u>Id</u>. at 162-163.

As this Court held in <u>Board of County Commissioners v.</u> <u>Snyder</u>, 627 So. 2d 469 (Fla. 1993), in which the first district's decision in <u>Grubbs</u> was approved, ¹ a comprehensive plan "is intended to provide for the future use of land, which contemplates a gradual and ordered growth," and represents a ceiling governing intensities of development above which development will not be allowed to proceed. <u>Id</u>. at 475. <u>See also</u>, <u>Lee County v.</u> <u>Sunbelt Equities II, Limited Partnership</u>, 619 So. 2d 996 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1993); <u>B.P.</u> <u>McCormick & Sons, Inc. v. City of Jacksonville</u>, 559 So. 2d 252 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); <u>Palm Beach County v. Allen Morris Company</u>, 547 So. 2d 690 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>review</u> <u>denied</u>, 553 So. 2d 1164 (Fla. 1989); <u>Southwest Ranches Homeowner's Association, Inc.</u> <u>v. Broward County</u>, 502 So. 2d 931 (Fla. 4th DCA), 511 So. 2d 999 (Fla. 1987).

Contrary to the continued mischaracterization by the Developers of this Court's decision in <u>Snyder</u>, this Court's establishment of the standards of judicial review applicable in the <u>rezoning</u> context in connection with a comprehensive plan, was not based upon this Court's concern that "neighborhoodism" and "rank political influence" were at the root of the problems in local zoning which Chapter 163 addressed. Rather, this Court's reference was to the reason certain commentators were advocating zoning reform, 627 So. 2d at 473, and this Court's concern was with the proper standards of judicial review of challenges to local government's zoning decisions in light of the provisions of Chapter

The corporate Developers' assertion herein that "the basis of the decision in <u>Snyder</u> was the character of the hearing (local hearing similar to a judicial proceeding)" is correct to the extent that it accurately states the context for this Court's decision on the procedural issue presented in <u>Snyder</u>. However, the ultimate point of and actual holding in <u>Snyder</u> is critical for placing this Court's decision in <u>Yusem</u> in its proper legal framework and for answering the question certified herein.

In <u>Snyder</u>, the Court recognized that under a local government's comprehensive plan, the future maximum developmental intensity of particular areas was established, and that within each of those general categories (e.g. residential, commercial, industrial, etc.), there could be numerous <u>zoning</u> classifications. This Court's focus in <u>Snyder</u> was to determine in the rezoning context the applicable standard of judicial review when a party seeking rezoning has that request denied by the local government, and to define the local government's discretion over zoning questions.

Significantly, and totally contrary to Petitioners' misuse of the term, this Court took great pains to recognize that the "strict scrutiny" which should be given by the judiciary when reviewing zoning cases in connection with a comprehensive plan is to insure that <u>comprehensive plans are adhered to by local governments in order to effectuate the patent purpose of Chapter 163</u>, 627 So.2d at 475. This court explicitly recognized that "strict scrutiny" arises from the necessity of strict compliance with the comprehensive plan and is to be distinguished from the type of judicial strict scrutiny review afforded in some constitutional cases. <u>See also Orange County v. Lust</u>, 602 So.2d 568 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), review denied, 613 So.2d 61 (Fla. 1993);Palm Beach County v. Alan Morris Company 547 So.2d 690 (Fla. 4th DCA), review dismissed ,553 So.2d 1164 (Fla. 1989);McGaw v. <u>Metropolitan Dade County</u>, 529 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1988); <u>Machado v. Musgrove</u>, 519 So.2d 629 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987).

To that end, this Court recognized that while the adoption of a comprehensive plan

163.

is a legislative policy decision, a landowner's rezoning request consistent with that plan involves a policy application to a specific set of facts and a limited parcel of property. This Court held that when a zoning classification is legally challenged, a comprehensive plan is relevant only when the requested new zoning is consistent with the comprehensive plan. When any of the several zoning classifications are consistent with the plan, the applicant seeking a change from one zoning category to the other is not entitled to judicial relief "absent proof the status quo is no longer reasonable." Id. at 475. See also Lee County v. Sunbelt Equities II, Limited Partnership, 619 So.2d 996 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). As a further indication of the fact that local governments still have broad discretion in the zoning arena, this Court held in Snyder that even if a landowner shows that his attempted requested rezoning is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan, a local government's denial of the rezoning application is to be affirmed if competent substantial evidence is presented showing that maintaining the existing zoning accomplishes a legitimate public purpose. Critically, this Court held that even if a landowner demonstrates that the proposed rezoning is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan and the local government's denial of the rezoning is inconsistent with the Comprehensive Plan, the local government can still deny the rezoning provided that it allows some development consistent with the plan and its decision is supported by substantial competent evidence. Snyder, 627 So.2d at 475. This Court reaffirmed this specific holding in Yusem, 690 So. 2d at 1296, n. 5.

Accordingly, under both <u>Snyder</u> and <u>Yusem</u>, a local government's decision not to grant a rezoning request, even if that decision is not consistent with the plan, or its refusal to amend its comprehensive plan, is entitled to great deference. As this Court held in <u>Haines City Community Development v. Heggs</u>, 658 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1995), a circuit court sitting in its appellate capacity in a certiorari proceeding is not to make a *de novo* determination as to zoning policy, which is a matter for local authorities.

Following <u>Snyder</u>, some courts began to review a local government's refusal to amend its comprehensive plan utilizing a "functional analysis": if the court perceived that

the proposed comprehensive plan amendment was of limited impact, it would be treated as a "quasi-judicial" decision and analyzed judicially pursuant to the standards and analysis established in <u>Snyder</u>, with certiorari review in the circuit court the authorized judicial remedy.

It is within this context that this Court decided <u>Martin County v. Yusem</u>, 690 So.2d 1288 (Fla. 1997), and answered the following certified question:

Can a rezoning decision which has limited impact under *Snyder*, but does require an amendment of the comprehensive land use plan, still be a quasijudicial decision subject to strict scrutiny review?

This Court answered the certified question in the negative, holding that "amendments to a comprehensive land use plan which was adopted pursuant to Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, are legislative decisions subject to the 'fairly debatable' standard of review." <u>Id</u>. The local government's legislative decision not to amend its comprehensive plan must be judicially approved if reasonable persons could differ as to its propriety. <u>Id</u>. at 1295.

The sole reason the district court below certified its question to this Court is because of <u>Yusem</u>'s "footnote 6," <u>Id</u>. at 1296, n. 6. The holding of this Court, "that all comprehensive plan amendments are legislative decisions subject to the fairly debatable standard of review" <u>id</u>. at 1295, appears absolute. However, in Footnote 6 this Court stated:

We do note that in 1995, the legislature amended Section 163.3187(1)(c), Florida Statutes, which provides special treatment for comprehensive plan amendments directly related to proposed small-scale development activities. Ch. 95 396, Section 5, Laws of Fla. We do not make any findings concerning the appropriate standard of review for these small-scale development activities.

Tellingly, *sub judice*, the Developers argued to the circuit court and to the first district below that <u>Yusem's</u> Footnote 6 evidenced this Court's conscious and intended decision that small-scale comprehensive plan amendments are not governed by <u>Yusem</u>, but should be judicially reviewed and analyzed like rezoning requests pursuant to <u>Snyder</u>.

This argument is disposed of by mere reference to the fact that the amendment to Chapter 163 by 95-396, Section 5, Laws of Florida, authorizing the "small-scale amendment process" was not even enacted until years after Mr. Yusem first sought to have Martin County's comprehensive plan amended, and, therefore, was not at issue in any of the proceedings leading up to review by this Court.¹

The narrow issue presented on this appeal is the application of <u>Yusem's</u> holding to the provisions of Section 163.3187(1)(c), which in pertinent part provides:

Amendments to comprehensive plans adopted pursuant to this part may be made not more than two times in any calendar year, except:

* * * * * * * * * * * *

local government comprehensive (C) any plan amendments directly related to proposed small-scale development activities may be approved without regard to statutory limits on the frequency of consideration of amendments to the local A small-scale development comprehensive plan. amendment may be adopted only under the following conditions:

1. The proposed amendment involves a use of ten acres or fewer and:

* * * * * * * * * * * *

(d) the proposed amendment does not involve a text change to the goals, policies, and objectives of the local government's comprehensive plan, but only proposes a land use change to the future land use map for site-specific small-scale development activity.

A review of the proceedings below conclusively demonstrates that the decision the City was required to make as to amending its Plan was clearly a legislative

¹ Further, by its plain terms, the small-scale amendment provisions of Section 163.3187(1)(c)1, apply only if the property involved is ten acres or less; the property at issue in <u>Yusem</u> was 54 acres. 690 So. 2d at 1289.

policy decision, and <u>Yusem's</u> holding should now be held to apply to <u>any</u> comprehensive plan amendment, as the district court below correctly held.

This case began with an attempt by these Developers to have the City's Planning Commission approve an amendment to the City's Plan to commercially develop property which has historically been residential, is currently zoned residential, and its future use is residential under the City's Plan. Because the Planning Commission's staff viewed this plan amendment as violating several important goals of the City's plan, it recommended that the proposed amendment be denied. The staff report (App. Tab K) noted that there was a surplus of vacant and available commercial property and that allowing commercial development in this residential neighborhood would not only erode this residential area in south Jacksonville Beach, but would also violate the Plan's goal of encouraging the "in fill" of commercial development, i.e., development in those areas already zoned for commercial use by current zoning and designated as such in the City's Plan.

At a hearing before the City's Planning Commission, the Developers presented the testimony of their hired experts and members of the public also spoke. The Planning Commission's staff recommendation to deny the proposed Plan amendment was approved by the Planning Commission. Thereafter, the virtually identical presentation of paid experts was made to the City Council for the City of

Jacksonville Beach, members of the public spoke, mostly in opposition to having the City's Plan changed in this residential area and their neighborhood encroached on by yet another commercial development, and most of whom pointed out what all members of the City Council were clearly aware of: there exists a significant surplus of commercial property which was properly zoned and intended to be commercial in the future under the City's Plan.

Significantly, Steven Lendorf, the City's Planning Director, testified explicitly that the policies underlying the City's Plan concerning in-fill development meant, as common sense would clearly indicate, exactly what it says: future commercial development should take place in those areas in which there is available vacant commercial property which is properly zoned for commercial development and which under the City's Plan is contemplated to be commercial in the future. As Mr. Lindorff explained, as did the Planning commission staff, the Plan would be violated by the commercial development of this residential property, designated to remain residential in the future under the City's Plan; simply because property across the street and to the north have some form of commercial development, does not transform the proposed commercial development of this residential area into "in fill" development.

The City Council unanimously rejected the Developers' proposed plan amendment, and in doing so clearly was engaged in a policy decision as the factors supporting <u>Yusem's</u>

holding demonstrate.

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